
SCRUTINY : SOCIAL SERVICES
3.00 pm TUESDAY, 25TH JULY, 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER

Please note that today’s meeting will be recorded. 
 

This recording will not be broadcast on the Authority’s internet as it will only be used for 
training purposes by the Democratic Services Department.

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the 

possible use of those images and sound recordings as outlined above.  

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on (01685) 

725284 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be 
found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest (including whipping 
declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note:

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and

(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave

3. Developing the Scrutiny Work Programme 
2017/18 
To consider the attached report 1 - 22

4. CSSIW Performance Review of Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council Social Services 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

23 - 28

5. Children's Services Strategy for Improving 
Wellbeing 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

29 - 36

6. Welsh Community Care Information System 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services

37 - 48

7. Survey of Members  -  Meeting Start Time 
To consider the attached report 49 - 50

8. Scrutiny Referrals, Feedback and Follow up 
Actions 

9. Reflection and Evaluation of Meeting 
To receive an update from the Chair

10. Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 

11. Any other business deemed urgent by the Chair 



COMPOSITION: Councillor:  W R Smith (Chair)

Councillors: L Davies, G Richards, T Rogers, T Skinner, 
I Thomas and C Tovey

Co-optees: B Lewis and H Symmonds

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
       Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY REPORT 
 

 

 
 
 

To:  Scrutiny Committee Members, 

Developing the Scrutiny Work Programme for 
2017 /2018 
 
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1    The Scrutiny committee is required to determine its scrutiny work programme for  

2017/18 
 
1.2   This report sets out some of the criteria that need to be considered when 

developing a work programme. 
 
1.3    The Wales Audit Office will be attending scrutiny meetings of all local authorities in 

Wales over the coming months as part of a scrutiny study. All scrutiny 
committees will need to ensure that they consider aspects of the study when 
undertaking the scrutiny role; and preparing the work programme. (See 5.0). 

 
2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
2.1   The scrutiny committee notes the contents of this report and commences the 

development of its work programme for 2017/18. 
  

 

 
3.0 BACKGROUND / INFORMATION 
 

Senior Officers will be in attendance to update Committee Members on their 
department’s priorities and the main risks and challenges they are facing, from 
which the Committee can identify any areas that they want added to their Work 
programme for 2017/18. The agenda items following this report will assist 
members in developing the work programme. 
 

3.1 Scrutiny was introduced in local government across the UK through the Local 
Government Act 2000, as the traditional “Committee System” of local government 

Date Written 27th June 2017 
Report Author Howard Jones 
Service Area Scrutiny 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt 
Committee Date 25th July 2017 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



 

administration was replaced with a more streamlined “Cabinet and Scrutiny 
System”. Scrutiny was seen by the Centre for Public Scrutiny as having four 
‘cornerstones’, namely:  

 
• Led by ‘independent minded governors who own the scrutiny role;  
• Acts as a ‘critical friend’ of the executive, holding decision makers to account;  
• Represents the views and concerns of the citizen; and  
• Leads to the improvement of public services.  

 
3.2 Broadly speaking, local government scrutiny committees operate in a manner 

similar to the select committees supporting the UK Parliament. They are composed 
of non-executive councillors of all political groups (in proportion to the Council’s 
overall political balance), and meet both in public and in private to:  

 
• Help the Administration develop and review policies;  
• Test the Council’s performance and offer advice for improvement;  
• Provide pre-decision scrutiny of decisions that the administration is about to 

make;  
• Periodically call in for examination decisions that the administration has 

recently made;  
• Offer a platform for citizens and citizen groups to represent their concerns or 

ideas for improvement. 
 
3.3 Scrutiny is recognised as playing a vital and statutory role in the council's 

governance, shaping the agenda, influencing policy and holding decision makers 
to account, engaging the public and building the organisation’s resilience and 
accountability in its working with regulators, partners, the media and citizens. 

 
3.4 Although scrutiny covers all areas over which the Cabinet has authority, a number 

of key areas are specified in legislation and should be taken into account when 
developing the work programmes. For instance:  

 
• The Police and Justice Act 2006 requires each Council to designate a 

committee as its statutory Crime and Disorder Committee, providing powers to 
scrutinise the way the Council is working with the Police and other agencies to 
tackle crime and disorder and support community safety;  
 

• The Local Government Measure (Wales) 2009 gives scrutiny a statutory role 
in securing improvement of public services under the Wales Programme for 
Improvement, providing assurance to bodies like Wales Audit Office, Estyn 
and the Care and Social Services Inspectorate for Wales that the Council is 
providing robust and effective self-regulation;  

 
• The Local Government Measure (Wales) 2011 requires Councils to ensure 

that its scrutiny function takes into account the citizen’s view, making 
provisions for public co-option onto scrutiny committees, a close relationship 
between the Council and its local voluntary services council, and requiring that 
authorities have protocols for public involvement.  

 
• The Wellbeing of Future Generations Act (Wales) 2015 specifies that each 

Council should designate a committee as its statutory committee to scrutinise 
the Council and its local strategic partners in health, policing, environment and 

Page 2



 

the third sector working to secure wellbeing for the population through its local 
Public Services Board (Cwm Taf Public Services Board). 

  
3.5 The quality of the environment in which scrutiny operates, the practice of scrutiny 

and the outcomes that it delivers can be usefully measured through the framework 
of the Characteristics of Effective Scrutiny in Wales (see APPENDIX I), developed 
in 2014 by all 22 local authorities in Wales in partnership with the Centre for Public 
Scrutiny and Wales Audit Office. This framework identifies 15 key characteristics 
that if followed effectively will deliver: 
 
• Better outcomes for the area; 
• Better decisions for the organisation; and 
• Better engagement with the public. 
 
 

4.0 DEVELOPING THE WORK PROGRAMME. 
 
4.1 Setting a work programme for the scrutiny committee is an important stage in the 

Scrutiny process. An effective and well planned work programme will identify the 
key topics that scrutiny will consider over the coming year.  The Local Government 
(Wales) Measure 2011 requires Scrutiny Committees to publish forward plans of their 
scrutiny work. A Work Programme will provide a clear picture to the public and 
partners of planned scrutiny activity. 

 
4.2 Scrutiny is a Member-led function and as such it is up to the scrutiny committee 

itself to determine the work programme. It is vital that scrutiny members take 
responsibility for both drawing up and managing their own work programme. The 
work programme is a working document that is subject to change and Members 
can add, remove, and defer items as necessary.  

 
4.3 “Effective work programming is the bedrock of an effective scrutiny function. Done 

well, it can help to lay the foundations for targeted, incisive and timely work on 
issues of local importance, where scrutiny can add value. Done badly, scrutiny can 
end up wasting time and resources on issues where the impact of any work done is 
likely to be minimal.”1  

 
4.4 The Wales Audit Office2 says that “Councils should ensure that the contents of 

forward work programmes are based on sound criteria with a clear rationale for 
topic selection and that sufficient consideration is given to the method of scrutiny, 
rather than just the selection of topics. A key criterion for the selection of topics 
and the method of scrutiny should be the extent to which scrutiny committees are 
likely to have an impact in the area they have selected.”  

 
 “To help ensure that scrutiny has an impact, scrutiny committees may have to 

balance a desire to examine a large number of topics with the likelihood of 
securing greater impact through focusing on a small number of items in more 
detail.” 

  

                                            
1 Centre for public Scrutiny (CfPS) 
2 “Good Scrutiny? Good Question!” 20th May 2014 http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0 
 

Page 3

http://www.cfps.org.uk/publications?item=113&offset=0


 

4.5  Some key principles for setting work programmes are shown below. A topic does 
not need to meet all of these criteria in order to be scrutinised, but they are 
intended as a guide for prioritisation. 

 
 

• Is the issue a priority area for the Council? 
• Is it a key issue for local people? 
• Will it be practicable to implement the outcomes of the scrutiny? 
• Are improvements for local people likely? 
• Does it examine a poor performing service? 
• Will it result in improvements to the way the Council operates? 
• Is it related to new Government guidance or legislation? 

 
4.6 The following criteria may also be helpful in identifying what issues are not suitable 

for scrutiny:  
 

• The issue is already being examined by another body. 
• The matter is prejudicial to the Council's interests.  
• The matter relates to a specific case falling within the complaints procedure, or 

should be dealt with via the complaints process.  
• The issue relates to an individual disciplinary matter or grievance. 

 
4.7 Sources of information to identify key topics for the work programme come from a 

wide range of sources including:  
 

• Suggestions made by Council Members and Co-opted members  
• Suggestions made by senior management  
• Suggestions made by members of the public 
• Corporate performance reports  
• Suggestions made by partners and stakeholders  
• Suggestions made by Regulators 
• The Council's Wellbeing Objectives (see APPENDIX II) 
• Topics from budget monitoring reports  
• Issues from audit and inspection reports  
• Performance issues 
• Inspectors’ and regulators’ concerns 

 

Please see APPENDIX III (Scrutiny Work Programme – Prioritisation Process) and 
APPENDIX IV (Scrutiny Work Programme Proposal / Request Form) 

 
4.8 The Committee will also have considered:- 
 

• Its areas of responsibilities / remit (see APPENDIX V) 
• the roles that scrutiny undertakes e.g. holding the Cabinet and decision-makers 

to account; policy review and development; performance monitoring;  external 
scrutiny. (see APPENDIX VI) 

 

APPENDIX VII is the work programme document that will need to be completed by 
each of the scrutiny committees 
 

 
4.9 The Welsh Government is keen that local authorities encourage members of the 

public to participate and engage in scrutiny activity. Such mechanisms of 
engagement include for example a member of the public requesting that an item 
be placed on an agenda for consideration (providing this is of immediate relevance 
to a topic included on its Work Programme); and the ability to submit evidence 

Page 4



 

(oral or written) to a planned or ongoing scrutiny review or investigation (taken 
from the work programme).  

 
4.10 An article will be in the next Contact magazine (mid July) asking the public for 

suggestions for the work programmes. The Communications department will also 
put notifications out on Twitter and Facebook asking for work programme 
suggestions.  There is also a mechanism in place on the scrutiny pages of the 
Councils website to allow anyone to submit suggestions for the work 
programmes (online form).  

 
 

5.0 WALES AUDIT OFFICE (WAO) STUDY  
 

5.1 The Wales Audit Office Annual Plan3 for 2017/18 includes “Supporting effective 
scrutiny and accountability”. It is understood that the WAO will be attending 
scrutiny meetings of all local authorities in Wales over the coming months as part 
of their plan. A report will be produced for each local authority on their findings. 
Included in the study will be:- 

 
1. How scrutiny is undertaking its role in respect of the Future Generations 

(Wales) Act 2015 e.g. the setting up of the Cwm Taf Public Services Joint 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee; and scrutiny’s role in examining how the 
Authority is acting in accordance with the Act. 

 
2. Evaluate how each local authority operates its scrutiny function using the 

“National Welsh Characteristics of Good Scrutiny”. (APPENDIX I), 
 
3. The WAO carried out a study in 2014 and produced a report4 “Good 

Scrutiny? Good Question!” The WAO will evaluate how the 
recommendations have been implemented across Wales. (See APPENDIX 
VIII). 
 

5.2 It is therefore of upmost importance that we have due consideration of the above 
documents / recommendations when carrying out the scrutiny function.    

 
  

HOWARD JONES 
SCRUTINY OFFICER 

                                            
3 Auditor General for Wales Annual Plan 2017 – 18  
http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/Annual-plan-2017-18-english.pdf  
 
4 Auditor General for Wales Iprovement Study: Scrutiny in Local Government – “Good Scrutiny? Good 
Question!” https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/WAO_Scrutiny_Report_English_2014.pdf 
 

Page 5

http://www.audit.wales/system/files/publications/Annual-plan-2017-18-english.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/WAO_Scrutiny_Report_English_2014.pdf


 

National Welsh Characteristics of Good Scrutiny 2013    
Outcomes and characteristics for effective local government overview & scrutiny agreed by Scrutiny 

Officers across Wales in 2013 as part of the Wales Audit Office “Improving Scrutiny” Study 
 

Outcome  

What does 

good scrutiny 

seek to 

achieve? 

 

Characteristics 

What would it look like? How could we recognise it? 

Democratic 

accountability 

drives 

improvement 

in public 

services.  

 

“Better 

Outcomes” 

Environment  
 

i) Overview & scrutiny has a clearly defined and valued role in the 

council's improvement and governance arrangements.  

 

ii) Overview & scrutiny has the dedicated officer support it needs 

from officers who are able to undertake independent research 

effectively, and provides councillors with high-quality analysis, 

advice and training.  

 

Practice  
 

iii) Overview & scrutiny inquiries are non-political, 

methodologically sound and incorporate a wide range of 

evidence and perspectives.   

 

Impact  
 

iv) Overview & scrutiny regularly engages in evidence based 

challenge of decision makers and service providers.  

v) Overview & scrutiny provides viable and well evidenced 

solutions to recognised problems. 

Democratic 

decision 

making is 

accountable, 

inclusive and 

robust.  

 

Environment  
 

i) Overview & scrutiny councillors have the training and 

development opportunities they need to undertake their role 

effectively.  
 

ii) The process receives effective support from the council’s 

corporate management team who ensures that information 

Page 6

jonesh1
Typewritten Text
                APPENDIX VI

jonesh1_1
Typewritten Text

jonesh1_2
Text Box



“Better 

decisions” 

provided to overview & scrutiny is of high quality and is 

provided in a timely and consistent manner.  

Practice  
 

iii) Overview & scrutiny is councillor-led, takes into account the 

views of the public, partners and regulators, and balances the 

prioritisation of community concerns against issues of strategic 

risk and importance.  

 

iv) Overview & scrutiny meetings and activities are well-planned, 

chaired effectively and make best use of the resources 

available to it.  

 

Impact  
 

v) Decision makers give public account for themselves at overview 

& scrutiny committees for their portfolio responsibilities.  

 

The public is 

engaged in 

democratic 

debate about 

the current 

and future 

delivery of 

public 

services.  

 

“Better 

engagement” 

Environment 
 

i) Overview & scrutiny is recognised by the executive and 

corporate management team as an important council 

mechanism for community engagement, and facilitates greater 

citizen involvement in governance.   

 

Practice  
 

ii) Overview & scrutiny is characterised by effective 

communication to raise awareness of, and encourage 

participation in democratic accountability.   

 

iii) Overview & scrutiny operates non-politically and deals 

effectively with sensitive political issues, tension and conflict.  

 

iv) Overview & scrutiny builds trust and good relationships with a 

wide variety of internal and external stakeholders.  

 

Impact  
 

v) Overview and scrutiny enables the 'voice' of local people and 

communities across the area to be heard as part of decision 

and policy-making processes.   

 

 

Page 7



Appendix II 

 

 

Page 8



 

Page 9



APPENDIX III 

 

 

Page 10



 

APPENDIX IV 
 

 
Scrutiny Work Programme Proposal / Request Form 

 
 
Item(s) for ………………………………….………..Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
 
Topic/Subject …………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 
Q) Why has the item been suggested for the scrutiny work programme? 
�  Is the issue a priority area for the Council? 

� Is it a key issue for local people? 

� Will it be practicable to implement the outcomes of the scrutiny? 

� Are improvements for local people likely? 

� Does it examine a poor performing service? 

� Will it result in improvements to the way the Council operates? 

� Is it related to new Government guidance or legislation? 

� Other – please specify…………………………………………………………… 
 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Q) What is the specific role of the committee? 
            This will depend on the item – for example the role could be: 

� To determine if performance levels are acceptable in relation to a particular 
department 

� To determine if a specific policy is fit for purpose 

� To satisfy itself that the Authority is working well with its partners in tackling a major 
issue  

� To gather the views of specific stakeholders as part of an on-going scrutiny   
investigation / review 

� To explore possible solutions to an issue 

� Other – please specify……………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 

Page 11



 

……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
Q) What outcome is being sought from the consideration of this item? 
� To comment on the proposed budget and make suggestions to cabinet regarding the 

proposed budget’s ability to deliver the priorities of the council  

� Identification of any causes for concern and note successes. 

� To receive an overview presentation. 

� To gain an understanding of and to comment on a policy / strategy 

� To explore ideas around the setting of budgets while considering the pressures facing 
each service. This also helps provide an overview of the policy frame work.  

� For the scrutiny committee to gain an overview and refresh their knowledge of the 
corporate plan / other plan / other strategy. 

� Improvement in service delivery 

� other – please specify…………………………………………………………… 
 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Q) Who should be invited to the meeting to provide the information? 

Depending on the information you need you might want to hear from a range of 
witnesses – e.g. Cabinet members, Senior Officers, Service users, and External 
partners – e.g. Police, Health Board etc 

 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



 

Q) Does the committee need to ask for written representations? 
The Committee may wish to pose some questions to the Department / Cabinet 
member / External Partner etc prior to the meeting. This may help in instances 
when the committee is looking for something specific to be addressed. This will 
assist whoever is attending ensure that they have the information / answer ready 
for the meeting.  

 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
Q) Which meeting format / venue would be most appropriate for the item and for 

the witnesses that will be invited to attend? 
Meetings do not have to be held in a formal committee room environment. You 
may wish to hold occasional meetings out in the community e.g. community 
centres, sports facilities etc. It depends on the subject. Some people find the 
formal setting intimidating. Site visits for example may be more appropriate to see 
first hand what the committee is investigating / obtaining information on e.g. waste 
sites, regeneration projects etc. 

 
Please provide further details……………………………………………………………………. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
……………………………………………………………………………………………………….. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 13



 

Examples of types of scrutiny (what is appropriate for each topic) 
 
1. Policy Review & Development – where the Committee contributes to the 

development of policy by scrutinising and making recommendations on policy 
proposals. Scrutiny Members may wish to be kept informed regarding new legislation, 
policy refreshing exercises and the outcomes of external assessments in order to 
provide recommendations to the Cabinet on policy.  

 
2. Pre-Decision Scrutiny - Where the Committee evaluates and comments upon policy 

proposals before they go to the Cabinet, giving the Cabinet the opportunity to know 
Scrutiny Members’ views prior to making their decision. Members may wish to keep 
informed of areas coming up on the agenda of Cabinet, in case they wish to pre-
scrutinise items. 

 
3. Performance Monitoring – where the Committee regularly analyses key performance 

data from the service areas within its remit in order to: highlight good performance; 
identify poor performance; examine trends over time; benchmark against other 
authorities; and examine the impact that initiatives and changes in resources have on 
performance and service delivery. By undertaking this role scrutiny may identify 
subjects that require further investigation 

 
4. Task and Finish – where the Committee examines a clearly defined topic using a 

planned approach over a set period of time, including: receiving evidence from 
Cabinet, officers and external witnesses; collating good practice; site visits where 
necessary; consulting stakeholders; and delivering a clear set of key findings and 
recommendations. 

 
5. Briefing Papers – where the Committee is receiving information on a topic to facilitate 

future scrutiny and analysis of that issue. 
 

6. Call-in – where the Committee is considering a recent Cabinet or officer decision that 
a non-executive Councillor has requested be re-considered, and which meets the 
Council’s criteria for Call-in as per the Constitution. 

 
7. In-depth topic reviews – Scrutiny Members may identify a topic they wish to review 

in depth. This enables Members to take time to consider evidence about the service 
area or organisation in question from various stakeholders, and present wide ranging 
recommendations aimed at service improvement. 

 
8. Overview - one of scrutiny’s main functions is to monitor the Council’s budget, service 

performance, and key decisions. The Scrutiny Committees also have an ‘overview’ 
remit and may have items on the agenda to brief Members about an area of work 
relevant to their terms of reference. Oversight of these areas is routine business and 
normally planned in advance. By undertaking this monitoring scrutiny may identify 
subjects that require further investigation.  

 
9. Short scrutinies - Scrutiny members can question senior officers and cabinet 

members about an issue in just one or two meetings. This approach enables scrutiny 
to address key, topical issues quickly. It is a useful way of holding to account or of 
highlighting quickly the work being done by the Council in relation to residents' areas 
of concern, or to have an update from a previous scrutiny to monitor progress. These 
short scrutinies are also a useful way for members to monitor and challenge a service 
or policy over a period of time and carry out broad, light touch, overview of services. 
The outcomes of these discussions are likely to be comments to the Cabinet Member, 
rather than detailed reports with a number of evidence-based recommendations. 

Page 14



  

 

GARETH CHAPMAN 
(Chief Executive) 

 

ELLIS COOPER 
(Deputy Chief Executive) 

 
 

DOROTHY HAINES 
Chief Officer 
0 LEARNING0 

 

LISA CURTIS-JONES 
Chief Officer 

0 SOCIAL SERVICES0 

 

CHERYLLEE EVANS 
Chief Officer 

0NEIGHBOURHOOD SERVICES0 

 

ALYN OWEN 
Chief Officer   

0COMMUNITY REGENERATION0 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Chief Education Officer (Statutory Role) 
School Improvement (David Swallow) 
Inclusion & Wellbeing (Sarah Bowen)  
School Planning & Improvement (A Lewis) 
Additional Learning Needs (Dorothy Haines) 
Governor Services 
 

 

Director of Social Services 
Adults Social Services (Mark Anderton) 
Children’s Social Services (Annabelle Lloyd) 
Community Development (Ian Benbow) 
Safeguarding (Alex Beckham) 

 
Corporate Property & Estates (Lisa Emerson / Mick 
Campbell) 
Waste Management (Paul Davies) 
Highways & Engineering (Darren Chaffe / Kevin 
Davies) 
Fleet Management (Mick Campbell) 
Grounds Maintenance (Rob Barnett) 
Street Cleansing / Tidy Towns (Paul Jones) 
Environmental Cleansing and Enforcement (Paul 
Jones)  
Parks & Bereavement Services (Rob Barnett) 
Planning & Countryside (Judith Jones) 
 

 
Physical Regeneration (Chris Long) 
Economic Development (Chris Long) 
Tourism (Chris Long) 
Employment / Employability Services (Chris 
Long) 
European and External Funding (Chris 
Long) 
Destination Management Plan Co-
ordinator 
Public Protection & Housing (Steve Peters) 
 

Mark Thomas 
(Head of Corporate Services) 

 
Customer Contact Centre (G Edwards/C 
O’Neill) 
Service Support (G Edwards/Sian Thomas) 
Executive Support (G Edwards/Heidi Jones) 
CCTV / Lifeline (G Edwards /Sian Davies) 
Parking Administration, Enforcement & 
Strategy (G Edwards) 
Risk Management / Equalities/Welsh 
Language (K O’Donovan) 
CTPSB (Suzanne Davies) 
Benefits and Revenues (Benefits, C.Tax, 
Debtors, Cash Collection) (Mike Parry)  
Internal Audit (Gary Evans)  
Leisure Trust / Active Lifestyles / Sports, 
Leisure & Culture Development (John 
Sellwood) 
 
 

Carys Kennedy 
(Head of Legal & Governance) 

 
Monitoring Officer 
Legal (Simon Jones) 
Democratic Services(Ann Taylor) 
Electoral Services (Ann Taylor) 
Register of Electors (Ann Taylor) 
Scrutiny Services (Howard Jones) 
Information Governance (Lisa Donnelly) 
Human Resources and Organisational 
Development (Fran Donnelly) 
 

Anthony Lewis 
(Head of School Planning and Improvement) 

 
Planning of  School Places and School 
Admissions (Helen Griffiths) 
21st Century Schools Programme (Anthony 
Lewis) 
School Organisation Planning (Anthony Lewis) 
Education Asset Management (Anthony Lewis) 
School Catering / Schools Buildings and 
Facilities Management / School Health & Safety 
/ School Cleaning / School Caretaking (Edwina 
Pickering) 
Local Management of Schools & School 
Resource (Craig Flynn) 
Education Management Information Systems 
(Capita One) (Emma Strand) 
 
 

Annabel Lloyd 
(Head of Children Social Services & Safeguarding) 

 

Wellbeing & Early Response (Joe Rhys-Jones)   
Services Supporting Permanence (Sarah Skuse)  
Merthyr Tydfil Family Centre & Contact (Pauline Lipian) 
Family Support (Kathryn O’Keefe) 
Intake (Gareth Powell) / Advocacy (Annabel Lloyd) 
Children with Disabilities (Jon Eyre)  
Early Intervention (Jon Eyre)  
Children Looked After (LAC) (Tammy Griffiths-Type)  
Fostering & Adoption (Angela Allen)  
LAC Education Support (LACES) (Jessica Jones) 
Children’s MASH) (Joe Rhys-Jones / Gareth Powell) 
Multi Intervention Assistance (MIA) (Gareth Kedward) 
Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service (Jason O’Brien RCT) 
Cwm Taf Integrated Family Support (Jay Goulding (RCT) 
 
 

 
Fran Donnelly 

 (Head of Human Resources and 
Organisational Development) 

(Reports to Carys Kennedy) 
 

HR Operations (P. Williams) 
HR Advice for Schools (Donna Perry) 
HR Admin (G Estabanez) 
Occupational Health (Alison Davies) 
Job Evaluation (Leanne Edwards) 
Health & Safety (A Dinham) 
Pensions (N Zeraschi) 
Payroll (David Jones) 
Trade Unions 

Judith Jones 
 (Head of Planning & Countryside) 

 
Development Control (Planning applications, 
Appeals & Enforcement) 
Building Control (Building Regulations & 
Dangerous Structures) 
Planning Policy & Implementation (Local 
Development Plan, Built Heritage Conservation, 
Landscape, Ecology & Biodiversity, G.I.S. 
 
“Countryside” relates to ecology, biodiversity and 
landscape which sit under the umbrella of 
implementation within the ‘Planning policy and 
Implementation section’, for which Chris O’Brien is 
the Group Leader. 

Steve Peters 
(Head of Public Protection & Housing) 

 
Housing Services (Strategic/Housing 
Solutions/ Homelessness) (J Pike). 
Housing Renewal Area (J Pike). 
Disabled Facility Grants (J Pike). 
Licensing (Paul Lewis).  
Trading Standards / Licensing (Paul Lewis). 
Environmental  Health (Sue Gow) 
Home to School / Subsidised Transport 
(Paul Lewis).  
Registry Service (Lorraine Evans). 
Community Safety (J Pike). 

Mark Anderton 
(Head of Adult Social Services) 

 

Supported People and Accom.(Lowri Morgan)   
Day Services (Rob Derrick) 
Initial Support Services (Angela Edevane)  
Community Occ. Therapy (Sonia Lloyd-Williams) 
Older People and Disability (Nicola Hughes) 
Community Mental Health (Alyson Jones) 
Psychiatry of Old Age (Alyson Jones) 
Advocacy (Mark Anderton) 
Complaints ((Jonathan Strong / Gaynor Lewis)  
Assessment & Charging (Jonathan Strong /Lesley-Anne 
Gallent) / Contracting  (Gareth Richards)  
Llysfaen (Chris Bartz) 
Ty Bargoed Newydd (Treharris) (Margaret Davidson) 
Ty Gurnos Newydd (Gurnos) (Nancy Harding) 
Adults MASH (Alex Beckham) 
Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development  (Jon Day 
RCT) 
 

 

Steve Jones 
(Head of Finance) 

 
Section 151 Officer 
Accountancy (Adele Lewis) 
Insurance (Huw Davies) 
Procurement (Paul Davies) 
Creditors (Huw Sims) 
Corporate Finance (Steve Jones) 
 

 

Gareth Chapman 
Other Departments:- 

 
 

Performance (Ewan Mc Williams) 
(Reports direct to Gareth Chapman) 

 
 

Ellis Cooper 
Other Departments:- 

 
Corporate Comm’s (Ceri Dinham) 
I.T. /  Print & Design (Richard Evans) 
Emergency Planning (Rob Gough) 
Business Change (A Mogford) 

(Reports direct to Ellis Cooper) 
 

Chris Hole 
  (Head of Community Wellbeing) 

 

Early Years & Flying Start (Sarah Davies) 
Youth & Youth Services (Samantha Morgan) 
Families First (James Watkins) 
Communities First (Vacant) 
Play (Chris Hole) / Integrated Children’s Centre (Nerys 
Jones) / Adult Community Learning (Jayne Powney) 
Parenting (Anthony Mee) 
NEET’s (Diane Jones) 
 
 

 
Learning and LAESCYP  

Scrutiny Committee 

 
Social Services  

Scrutiny Committee 

 
Neighbourhood Services, Planning  

& Countryside  
Scrutiny Committee 

 

 
Regeneration and Public 

Protection  
Scrutiny Committee 

(Also Crime & Disorder Committee) 

 
Governance, Performance, Business Change  

and Corporate Services  
Scrutiny Committee 

Cllr Lisa Mytton (Portfolio Member for 
Learning) 

Cllr David Hughes (Portfolio Member for Social 
Services) 

Cllr Howard Barrett (Portfolio Member for  
Neighbourhood Services, Planning  

& Countryside) 

 
 Cllr Geraint Thomas (Portfolio 

Member for  Regeneration and Public 
Protection) 

 

 Cllr Andrew Barry  
(Portfolio Member for “Governance and Corporate Services”) 

MTCBC Scrutiny Committee Remits 
A

P
P

E
N

D
IX

 V
 

P
age 15



APPENDIX IV 

The responsibilities of Scrutiny committees can be split into four main areas as 
detailed below. 

 

1. Holding Portfolio Holders to account for the services within their areas of 
responsibility 

The Cabinet system for local government means that the Leader and Portfolio 
Holders are directly accountable for all of the services provided by the Council. This 
means that Portfolio Holders are asked to present reports to Scrutiny and are held 
accountable for the Council's performance.  

Portfolio Holders are also held to account scrutiny through performance monitoring. 
Portfolio Holders are invited to present monitoring reports on targets in their portfolio. 
This gives the Committee a chance to take an overview of progress towards 
achieving the aims of the Council for the year and helps to show the clear 
relationship with the Portfolio Holder's responsibility for the service area. 

 

2. Contributing to the development and review of key Council policies and 
programmes 

Scrutiny plays a vital role in maintaining an overview of the Council's work and 
looking in depth at programmes of work or issues which either have particular 
significance for residents or have been highlighted as areas of concern. 

In order to undertake this work, the Committee can set up Informal Task & Finish 
Groups of committee members who work with officers in the relevant area to review 
the issue and report back to their parent scrutiny committee. If there are any 
recommendations these are then passed to Cabinet for consideration and, if agreed, 
implementation. 

Scrutiny can also ask for ad hoc reports on aspects of the Council's business 
throughout the year. 

Scrutiny can do the following in relation to policy development and review: 

a) Help the Council develop its budget and policy framework by looking at policy 
issues; 

b) Carry out research and consultation when looking into policy issues and 
possible options; 

c) Put in place mechanisms to encourage community participation and the 
development of policy options; 

d) Question Members of Cabinet, the Chief Executive / Deputy Chief Executive, 
Heads of Service and senior Officers about their views on issues and proposals 
affecting the County Borough; 

Page 16

jonesh1_3
Text Box

jonesh1_4
Cross-Out

jonesh1_5
Text Box
APPENDIX VI



e) Liaise with other external organisations operating in the area to make sure that 
working in partnership is in the interests of local people. 

 

3. Challenging decisions made by Cabinet or Portfolio Holders 

The Council's constitution allows scrutiny to 'call in' Cabinet decisions. When 'call in' 
has been used, Cabinet is not able to implement a decision until the matter has been 
considered by the Scrutiny.  

 

4. Reviewing the overall benefit to the public from services provided by the 
City Council and other organisations 

Scrutiny is able to scrutinise any matter affecting the County Borough or its 
residents. To help undertake this important role, it is able to scrutinise services 
provided by external organisations as well as those provided by the Council.  

Scrutiny can also review the Council's partnership working in relevant areas. They 
are able to look at all aspects of a partnership's work including the Council's role, 
performance management and monitoring work programmes. 

One difference with this external role is that Scrutiny cannot require a representative 
from those external organisations to come and give evidence. Rather, it can invite 
external people to attend to give evidence. 

Page 17



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

 
Committee 

Date / Timing Overarching 
Item 

Officer & Cabinet 
Member 

Scrutiny Focus  

25th July 2017 

Welsh 
Community 
Care 
Information 
System (WCCIS) 
 

Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge:-  A new computer system is being introduced in Wales to help health 
and social care professionals work together to provide care closer to people’s homes. It 
gives community nurses, mental health teams, social workers and therapists the digital tools 
they need to work better together. The committee to receive an update on the system and 
how it is being imbedded at MTCBC. 
 
 

Children’s 
Services 
Strategy Update 

Annabelle Lloyd Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Children’s Services will provide an update on the 
strategies applicable to Children’s Social Services 

CSSIW Annual 
Letter 

Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge:-  To advise members of CSSIW Annual letter.  The CSSIW undertake an 
annual evaluation and review of Local Authority social services and provide overall 
judgements on key areas of progress and areas for improvement. 
 

Develop the 
Annual Scrutiny 
Work 
Programme 

Full Committee The Committee to develop work programme for 2017/18. 

 
19th September 2017 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Living Well 
(LW1) 

Cllr David Hughes, 
Lisa Curtis Jones 
and appropriate 

Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report 
will outline the context, current position and provide the most up to date performance and 
project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 

Annual Report 
(ACRF) 

LCJ, AL, MA, LM Scrutiny & Challenge:-  Annual Council Reporting Framework. The Director of Social Services 
annual statutory report to Welsh Government 
 
 

A
P

P
E

N
D

IX
 V

II 

P
age 18



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

Adult Services 
Strategy Update 

Mark Anderton Scrutiny & Challenge:-  The Head of Adult Services will provide an update on the strategies 
applicable to Children’s Social Services 
 

Merthyr Tydfil 
Youth Offending 
Team (YOT) 

 Scrutiny & Challenge:-  To discuss the CSSIW Inspection report.  The YOT is a multi-agency 
team which is made up of members of the Police, Probation, Health, Education, Substance 
Misuse and Social Services, as well as others specific to the team. The YOT deals with young 
people between the ages of 10 and 18 who are involved in the criminal justice system, and 
those who are just on the periphery of becoming involved in the system. 
 

31st October 2017 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Living Well 
(LW2) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, 
Lisa Curtis Jones 
and appropriate 

Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report 
will outline the context, current position and provide the most up to date performance and 
project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 

Looked After 
Children 

Strategy Update 

Annabel Lloyd/ 
Cllr David Hughes 

Monitoring, Scrutiny & Challenge: A quarterly update on progress implementing the LAC 
strategy and the associated risks, issues and challenges. The strategy is seeking a reduction 
in the number of LAC and CPR over the next few years 

CTSAB/CTSCB 
Annual Reports  

Nicola Kingham 
and officers and  
Cllr David Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-   These separate reports summarises the work undertaken by the 
CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve its objectives during the year. They also summarise the 
areas of development identified. 
 

12th December 2017 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Living Well 
(LW3) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, 
Lisa Curtis Jones 
and appropriate 
Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- 
The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report 
will outline the context, current position and provide the most up to date performance and 
project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 

Regional 
Adoption 

Annual Report 

AL/ Angela Harris 
& Rachel Evans 

(Vale of 
Glamorgan 

Monitoring & Scrutiny: An update  and some early performance information  in relation to 
our regional adoption collaborative  
 
 

P
age 19



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

Communities 
First 

Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge: - Communities First is a community focussed tackling poverty 
programme, which is being phased out by March 2018. An update is required on 
outstanding projects and how the Authority and Partners are winding up the programme. 
 

Community 
Zone 

Lisa Curtis Jones Scrutiny & Challenge:-   Community Zones is a place based approach focussing support to 
improve outcomes for residents with the greatest challenges.  The Committee requires an 
update i.e. how the zones are progressing; what challenges are being faced; and what 
performance indicators have been developed.  
 

23rd January 2018 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Living Well 
(LW1) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, 
Lisa Curtis Jones 
and appropriate 

Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report 
will outline the context, current position and provide the most up to date performance and 
project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 

Cwm Taff 
Integrated 
Family Support 
Team Annual 
report. 

AL/  Goulding, Jay 
(RCT) 

 

Scrutiny & Challenge:- An Annual Report on progress within the Cwm Taf IFST and the wider 
implementation. 
 

27th February 2018 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Living Well 
(LW2) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, 
Lisa Curtis Jones 
and appropriate 

Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report 
will outline the context, current position and provide the most up to date performance and 
project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 
 
 
 
 

Budget update Stacey 
Evans/LCJ/Cllr 

Hughes 

Scrutiny & Challenge: -  Update on budget and looking at areas that may overspend. 
 
 

P
age 20



Social Services Scrutiny Committee  
Work Programme Descriptors 2017/18 

(The Work Programme is reviewed at each meeting and as such is subject to change) 

As per the WAO scrutiny forward work programmes should: provide a clear rationale for topic selection; be more outcome focussed; ensure that the method of scrutiny is best suited to the topic area 
and the outcome desired; align scrutiny programmes with the council’s performance management, self-evaluation and improvement arrangements. 
 
 

 
 

 
 

10th April 2018 

Wellbeing 
Objective 

Living Well 
(LW3) 

 

Cllr David Hughes, 
Lisa Curtis Jones 
and appropriate 

Officers 

Scrutiny & Challenge:-  
The Scrutiny Committee will receive a report on a wellbeing objective.  The scrutiny report 
will outline the context, current position and provide the most up to date performance and 
project information to enable the Scrutiny Committee to discuss and challenge on the steps 
taken to meet our wellbeing objectives. 
 

CTSAB/CTSCB 
Annual Plans  

Nicola Kingham Scrutiny & Challenge:-  These separate reports summarises the work undertaken by the 
CTSCB and the CTSAB to achieve its objectives. They also summarise the areas of 
development identified. 
 

For consideration on 
work programme - 
To be confirmed 

Refugee 
Settlement in 
Merthyr Tydfil 

SP/LCJ 
To be confirmed 

Syrian refugee settlement programme. The Committee has learned of a family that had 
settled in Merthyr Tydfil as part of the programme but due to issues with the property that 
was allocated to them (private rented), the family eventually left Merthyr Tydfil to resettle 
in London. The committee wish to set up a T&F Group to review matters to see what lessons 
were learned and would the Authority take the same approach in future. (see email SP 
21/4/17) 
 

 Recommendatio
ns made by 

external 
regulators 

(WAO, CSSIW, 
ESTYN, WG 

Commissioners 
etc.).  

Review of 
Corporate 
Safeguarding 
Arrangements in 
Welsh Councils 
(July 2015) 

Scrutiny, Challenge and Monitor: R6 Improve accountability for corporate safeguarding by 
regularly reporting safeguarding issues and assurances to scrutiny committee(s) against a 
balanced and council-wide set of performance information covering: • benchmarking and 
comparisons with others; • conclusions of internal and external audit/inspection reviews; • 
service-based performance data; • key personnel data such as safeguarding training, and 
DBS recruitment checks; and • the performance of contractors and commissioned services 
on compliance with council safeguarding responsibilities. 

P
age 21

https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf
https://www.wao.gov.uk/system/files/publications/365A2015_safeguarding_english_final.pdf


Appendix VIII 

Good Scrutiny? Good Question!  

Auditor General for Wales improvement study: 
Scrutiny in Local Government 

 

Recommendations:- 

 

Page 22



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

CSSIW Performance Review of Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council Social Services

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of the report is to share with the Scrutiny Committee the CSSIW (Care 
and Social Services Inspectorate Wales) Performance Review of Merthyr Tydfil 
County Borough Council Social Services Department 2016/17.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That the Scrutiny Committee note and debate the content of this report.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 During the period from 2016-17 we have met on a quarterly basis with Denise Lawrie 
and Duncan Marshall from CSSIW. We consider areas within the social services 
plan and any updates about the service area from social services and CSSIW. 
Duncan Marshall meets with heads of services between the engagement meetings 
to discuss each service area.

3.2 This year CSSIW wrote to us to highlight the areas we have discussed, and give an 
overview of the year 2016-17. This is a new system for CSSIW and for this year the 
letter will not be published, but will in subsequent years. It has been shared with 
WAO, Estyn and Healthcare Inspectorate Wales. In 2017-18 meetings have been set 
up with CSSIW which the portfolio lead and the scrutiny chair will be invited to 
attend.

3.3 The letter received is informed by the CSSIW’s inspection, performance review and 
engagement activity during 2016-17. The content of which is outlined below.

Date Written 12th July 2017
Report Author Lisa Curtis-Jones
Service Area Social Services
Committee Date 25th July 2017

Page 23

Agenda Item 4



4.0 PROGRESS ON KEY AREAS FOR IMPROVEMENT AND 
DEVELOPMENTS IN THE LAST YEAR.

4.1 Implementation of the Social Services and Well-being Act (SSWBA) is ongoing, 
overseen by a regional project board. The local authority reports that progress is 
being made in developing access to information, advice and assistance (IAA). The 
local authority’s roll out of the Wales Community Care Information System (WCCIS) 
was reported to be on track. It is positive to note the joint working arrangements 
across Cwm Taf underpinning the launch of a single proportionate assessment in 
advance of its ‘go-live’ date in late June.

4.2 Delayed Transfers of Care (DToC) figures continue to be stable, due in part to the 
successful implementation of a hospital based rapid response service. This 
innovative service aims to assess individual needs at an earlier stage to avoid 
unnecessary hospital admissions or reduce the length of hospital stay. In view of its 
positive impact the local authority plans to increase the hours of operation of this 
service in conjunction with its partners.

4.3 The local authority is anticipating the impact of the diminishing Communities First 
funding and is working to ameliorate negative outcomes where possible. In the mid 
to longer term this will be taken forward by the Anti-Poverty Board who are 
considering the introduction of community zones as part of a wider response to 
meeting future need.

4.4 A market position statement is being prepared with the aim of setting out future 
needs as a basis of discussion with potential providers of adult care services. The 
local authority continues to consider the remodelling of its in-house residential 
services for adults in order to be best placed to meet current and future need. 
CSSIW will continue to monitor progress on this.

4.5 It was reported the re-tendering of domiciliary care services, undertaken on a Cwm 
Taf basis last October, was generally successful. CSSIW’s inspection of the 
authority’s own initial response service also reflected generally positive outcomes for 
people using the service.

4.6 Early indications are the reshaped IAA children’s services model has been well 
received by people and the authority reports an increasing rate of access to these 
services. It is too early to judge the impact of this on the demand for prevention and 
early intervention services and CSSIW will be interested to consider this with the 
authority during the year.

4.7 CSSIW visited the Enhanced Children in Need (ECIN) service earlier in the year 
during consultations on the re-shaping of this service, now known as the Early 
Intervention Team. People using the service were positive about the support it 
provided to them. There is a ‘step-down’ approach from this service to the Multiple 
Intervention Assistance (MIA) team.

4.8 The numbers of children looked after by the local authority have increased since 
December 2016, following a period of plateau. Phase two of the authority’s CLA 
prevention strategy is now underway, with a view to targeting input so as to reduce 
numbers safely. The numbers of CLA who are also on the child protection register 

Page 24



has increased recently, with analysis showing this is due in part to an increasing 
number of teenage children being appropriately placed on the register due to risk of 
child sexual exploitation. These trends are closely monitored by the Cwm Taf 
Children’s Safeguarding Board and CSSIW will also follow up on developments in 
this area.

4.9 CSSIW participated in the recent inspection of the Cwm Taf Youth Offending Service 
and found many examples of good practice at an operational level. Outcomes from 
this will be formally reported on in due course.

4.10 It is reported that recruitment to key posts in children’s services remains a challenge 
and we will follow up with the local authority this year on the impact this may have on 
outcomes.

4.11 The local authority reports progress on the implementation of the Welsh Language 
Standards and has updated its ‘More than just words’ action plan, incorporating this 
into its corporate wide planning. Only one percent of the local authority’s employees 
are Welsh speaking but there has been a high take up of new opportunities for staff 
to learn Welsh. However, the local authority is not yet able to fully implement the 
active offer.

4.12 The local authority has developed strong partnerships with Cwm Taf University 
Health Board and this has paid particular dividends in relation to reducing DTOC, as 
referenced above. There is a continuing trend towards integrated service delivery 
across the Cwm Taf region, involving both the Health Board and Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Council. The local authority is actively exploring more effective 
means of service provision for people with learning disabilities and mental health 
support needs with partners on a regional basis. The strength of professional 
relationships at senior level and the effectiveness of integrated service provision 
between the authority and Rhondda Cynon Taf is to be commended.

5.0 Feedback on annual engagement themes

5.1 During 2016 – 17 CSSIW carried out a range of engagement activities across all 
authorities in Wales. This engagement activity focuses on two main themes, adult 
safeguarding and carers.

5.2 Safeguarding

In addition to meeting with the safeguarding lead for the local authority, CSSIW 
spent time in the Multi Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH), which has been fully 
operational across Cwm Taf since May 2015. We saw effective partnership working 
in action, with a multi-agency response to ‘live’ calls. This enabled timely decision- 
making to be taken in relation to individual risk which had been informed by all of the 
pertinent factors. We found that there were sound procedures in place to safeguard 
vulnerable adults, and these were well understood by staff based in the MASH.

Overall performance and the monitoring of quality and trends were effectively 
overseen by the Cwm Taf Adult Safeguarding Board. Their quality assurance 
subgroup was an illustration of this which helps ensure there are lessons learned. 
The local authority acknowledges more needs to be done to ensure the voice of 

Page 25



people involved in the safeguarding process is more effectively heard and listened 
to, so as to inform future practice.

The authority is to be commended for the way in which it has sought to progress the 
long-standing backlog of Deprivation of Liberty (DOLs) applications. Productivity has 
been enhanced by the buying in of specific assessor capacity and effective 
prioritisation.

5.3 Carers

CSSIW attended carers’ strategy network meetings in Merthyr Tydfil and a carers’ 
stakeholder event, held as part of wider engagement activity linked to the population 
needs assessment. We also spoke to a number of individual carers, identified by 
Voluntary Action Merthyr Tydfil (VAMT) and officers of the local authority. VAMT’s 
carers’ information and development officer role is currently vacant. The most 
effective means of providing this service in the future was being considered as part 
of the wider review of the local authority’s carers’ strategy.

Individual carers we spoke to were generally happy with the service they received 
and said there was good access to information on the services available, primarily 
via VAMT. However, only one or two of those spoken to had heard about the carers’ 
assessment and there was some confusion about for whom the particular service 
was being provided (e.g. respite). The local authority should consider how best to 
improve awareness of, and access to, carers’ assessments. Some carers expressed 
concern about the impact of changes in allowances and eligibility criteria, which may 
affect their role as carers. This will be an area where the local authority can provide 
advice and support.

6.0 Progress on recommendations arising from inspections

6.1 Merthyr Tydfil was one of six local authorities visited by CSSIW as part of our 
national inspection of care and support for people with learning disabilities. A key 
recommendation was for the development of a clearer vision and overall strategy for 
care and support. A comprehensive review is being undertaken across Cwm Taf and 
will be shared shortly. We understand this will include further restructuring of day 
services and CSSIW will follow up on this during the year.

6.2 Planning is at an advanced stage for the integrated service for people with autism; 
recruiting will shortly commence to joint posts for this service which will launch in the 
autumn.

6.3 The local authority was not involved in site visits for CSSIW’s other thematic reports 
on domiciliary care (inspection work 2015/16) and the national review of care 
planning for children and young people subject to public law outline (PLO) 
preproceedings undertaken during the year. As with other local authorities, Merthyr 
Tydfil completed self assessments that contributed to the data analysis underpinning 
these.

7.0 Inspection, Engagement & Performance Review Plan

7.1 In 2017-18 in addition to areas identified for follow up above, CSSIW themes for 
inspection, engagement and performance review are:

Page 26



 Support provided for people with mental health needs with a focus on 
Community Mental Health Team’s

 Placement decisions for children looked after

7.2 CSSIW will provide six weeks notice if the authority is scheduled for an inspection 
during 2017/18.

7.3 CSSIW will also continue to consider what actions have been taken by the local 
authority in relation to recommendations contained in its national thematic reviews 
including Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards, services for people with learning 
disability, domiciliary care and Public Law Outline.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO CORPORATE PRIORITIES

8.1 The content of this report has strategic congruence with the Social Service Strategy 
in the following ways:

 Children and Adults are safe and protected from neglect and abuse.

 Social Services practice is compliant with the Social Services and Well-Being 
(Wales) Act.

 Improve Performance.

 Improve partnership working.

 Promote Early Intervention and Prevention.

LISA CURTIS-JONES, 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre,  Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil,  CF47 8AN

Main Tel:  01685 725000,  www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Children's Services Strategy for Improving Wellbeing

1. SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1. This report provides information about the Children's Service Strategy for improving 
wellbeing linked to the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 and the 
Wellbeing Objectives published our Statement of Wellbeing under the Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015.

2. RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1. That Social Services Scrutiny Committee members receive this report and subsequent 
reports as outlined here, which will provide a coherent basis from which Scrutiny 
Members can raise questions and challenge in pursuit of improving the wellbeing of 
children, young people and families in Merthyr Tydfil.

Date Written Wednesday, 12 July 2017

Accountable for Delivery Lisa Curtis-Jones
Annabel Lloyd

Service Area Children's Services

Committee Date Tuesday, 25 July 2017

Page 29

Agenda Item 5

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/


3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1. Children's Services is developing its strategy to coordinate the work it is doing linked to 
the Council's Statement of Wellbeing, and its Plan "Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in 
our Community". The same strategy will also respond to children’s services’ role in 
contributing to outcomes under the Cwm Taf Statement  of Strategic Intent for Children, 
Young People and Families, and the Public Services Board  Cwm Taf  well-Being 
Objectives.

Legislative Context
3.2. 1The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 specifies that we must work to 

improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural wellbeing of Wales by 
maximising our contribution to the Wellbeing Goals.  We must do this in accordance 
with the sustainable development principle, which means that we act in a manner that 
seeks to ensure the needs of the present are met without compromising the ability of 
future generations to meet their own needs.

3.3. There are 5 things that we need to do in order to show that we have applied the 
sustainable development principle.  The five things are:

 Long Term
 Preventative
 Involvement
 Collaboration
 Integrated

3.4. 2The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 specifies that we must seek to 
improve the wellbeing of people who need care and support, carers who need support 
and for transforming social services in Wales.  The focus of this Act is on what matters 
to the person and how they can use their own strengths and resources to do those 
things, which is determined by an assessment that involves the person and the 
professional(s).

3.5. In order to improve wellbeing local authorities, health boards and NHS trusts must work 
closely to ensure better integration of health and social care.  Local authorities and 
health boards must work together to assess care and support needs (and carer support 
needs) of the population in their area. As a result they will identify what services are 
needed.

3.6. Local authorities will arrange the right preventative services to reduce need for formal 
support in their area.  This will be informed by an assessment undertaken by the local 

1 Read the essential guide to the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
2 Read the essential guide to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014

Page 30

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2015/2/contents/enacted
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/contents
http://thewaleswewant.co.uk/sites/default/files/Guide%20to%20the%20WFGAct.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/160127socialservicesacten.pdf


authority in partnership with the health board.  It will establish the needs of the people 
who need care and support, and carers who need support, in their area.

4. WHERE WE WERE

4.1. An overview of the state of wellbeing in Cwm Taf was prepared in an assessment of 
wellbeing3, which provides background information on wellbeing in Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf.  In addition, a population assessment4 was prepared to provide an 
overview of care and support needs of the people of Cwm Taf and the range of services 
required to meet those needs.  The findings from the wellbeing and population 
assessment contributed to the development of the statement of wellbeing for Merthyr 
Tydfil.

4.2. The conclusion of the Population Needs assessments under both the Social Services 
and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 and the subsequent Well-being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 triggered a review of the Children's Services Strategy.

4.3. This report sets out how, following the review of the Children's Services Strategy, the 
revised strategy aligns to the Wellbeing Objectives and what projects are critical to 
achieving improved wellbeing for children in Merthyr Tydfil.

4.4. Subsequent Scrutiny Reports will provide highlight report against those critical projects 
and will include other elements from specific work streams that we anticipate will have 
greatest impact in making a difference.

Wellbeing Statement
4.5. In our wellbeing statement we set out the scope of each wellbeing objective and outline 

why we consider that meeting the objective will maximise our contribution to the 
achievement of the seven wellbeing goals.  Our strategy will contribute primarily to the 
following Wellbeing Objectives:

Best Start to Life
 Children get the best start to life
 Children and young people are equipped with the skills they need to be successful 

learners and confident individuals

Living Well
 Developing safer communities
 People live independently

3 Information on the assessment of wellbeing is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.
4 Information on the population assessment is published on the Cwm Taf Portal.

Page 31

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-well-being
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


4.6. However, through the work of Children's Services there are opportunities to contribute 
to the other Wellbeing Objectives in the main areas of Working Life and Environmental 
Wellbeing.

4.7. The key outcomes that we want to deliver for children and young people are:

 Safeguarding vulnerable children who are at risk of harm
 Children looked after having a successful pre-school, school education and a 

pathway to work
 Children looked after  and care leavers having stable accommodation
 Specialist services prevent escalation of risk and need
 Children in need  of care and support receive the right interventions at the right 

time to prevent escalation of need

4.8. The following principles provide additional information about the ways of working that 
will facilitate our delivery against these outcomes:

 Prevention: Using evidence to strengthen the interface with preventative services
 Long Term: Step up and step down services, but avoiding stepping away
 Involvement: Working in co-production to promote voice and choice
 Collaboration: Working with partners to deliver our key outcomes for children
 Integration: Contribute and support the Council meet all Wellbeing Objectives

5. OUR CONTRIBUTION

5.1. In order to deliver improved wellbeing for children and families, Children's Services has  
the following key measures of performance and key projects, which are linked to the 
business areas highlighted below:

Reference to Performance and Projects

5.2. Some key measures of performance are highlighted below. During the summer period  
identifying the data that will most assist in telling us what difference we are making and 
how we can narrow any gaps in performance.

Safeguarding vulnerable children who are at risk of harm

 Re-registrations of children on local authority child protection registers

Children looked after having a successful pre-school and school education

 Children looked after achieving the expected outcome for PSD
 Children looked after achieving the Foundation Phase Outcome Indicator

Page 32



 Children looked after achieving the Key Stage 2 Core Subject Indicator
 Children looked after achieving the Key Stage 3 Core Subject Indicator
 Children looked after achieving the Level 2 Average External Points Score
 Children looked after achieving the Level 2 threshold inclusive
 Children looked after attendance in primary schools
 Children looked after attendance in secondary schools

Children looked after having stable accommodation

 Children supported to remain living within their family
 Children looked after who have experienced one or more changes of school

5.3. Key projects

Key Project Area of Business Wellbeing Objectives

Strategy and Action Plan 
for Information Advice and 
Assistance (IAA)

 IAA
 Young Carers
 Multi-Agency Safeguarding 

Hub
 Multi-agency Risk 

assessment Framework
 Step up Step down
 Young Carers

Living Well
 People live independently

Key Component:
Clearly and accessibly 
communicate sources of advice, 
assistance and support

Strategy and Action Plan 
for Children Looked After 
(CLA) Prevention

 Family Centre
 Re-assessment for Phase 2 

of CLA prevention
 IFST/ IFST Panel
 MIA Co-ordination
 Early Intervention Team

Living Well
 Developing safer 

communities

Key Component:
Safeguarding vulnerable children 
and adults who are at risk of 
harm

Strategy for Stability for 
young people who are 
looked after and care 
leavers 

 Foster Carer recruitment and 
retention

 Fostering Well-being 
 Stability, Success and 

Transition Panel
 Permanence
 Adoption

Best Start to Life 
 Children get the best start to 

life

Key Component:
Children having a nurturing and 
stimulating home environment

Strategy for Success for 
young people who are 

 Corporate Parenting
 Education for Looked after 

Best Start to Life 
 Children get the best start to 

Page 33



looked after and care 
leavers

young people
 Pathway to Employment
 Offer to care leavers under 

hidden ambitions

life
 Children and young people 

are equipped with the skills 
they need to be successful 

Key Components:
Children having access to high 
quality pre-school and school 
education
Schools equipping pupils with 
high levels of literacy, numeracy 
and ICT skills
Schools equipping pupils with 
social and emotional skills
Schools supporting physical 
activity of pupils

Strategy for Improving 
Performance

 Participation and the Young 
Persons Voice

 Partnership Working
 Policies and Procedures
 Performance Review
 Quality Assurance 

Framework
 Outcome Focused Work
 Independent Reviewing  

Service

6. WHERE WE WANT TO BE

6.1. Merthyr Tydfil Children's Services plans to be a high performing service, working in co-
production with partners and families, providing services that reduce risk and increase 
resilience.

7. WHERE WE ARE NOW

7.1. The last corporate self -evaluation exercise assessment judged that children’s services 
performance is adequate.

Page 34



8. WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT

8.1. Social Services Scrutiny Committee members are asked to be mindful that the Council's 
Plan [Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community] is not yet finalised, which 
may lead to subsequent adjustments to our Children's Services Strategy.

8.2. Principal Officers are aware of the projects that they lead and the support that is 
available to them.

8.3. The next steps are to make certain that staff, young people, families and partner 
organisations have been involved in developing this work.  At the same time we are 
developing highlight reports against each project that will provide a coherent basis from 
which Scrutiny Members can raise question and challenge in pursuit of improving the 
wellbeing of children, young people and families in Merthyr Tydfil.

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER FOR SOCIAL SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

EVIDENCE
Title of Document(s)

 Statement of Wellbeing (published)
 Focus on the Future: Wellbeing in our Community (unpublished)

Does the report contain any issues that may 
affect the Council’s Constitution? NO

Page 35

https://www.merthyr.gov.uk/council/strategies-plans-and-policies/statement-of-wellbeing/


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Information Report:  Welsh Community Care 
Information System (WCCIS)

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Scrutiny with an update on progress in 
relation to the Welsh Community Care Information System (WCCIS).

1.2 The report provides background information, progress to date and sets out plans for 
further development.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 The content of the report be noted.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Welsh Social Care and NHS Wales have embarked on a national programme to 
implement an electronic system for community health and social care staff – the 
Welsh Community Care Information System (WCCIS).

3.2 WCCIS is a single information solution supporting the integrated delivery of 
innovative, person-centred community health and social care. WCCIS will allow local 
authorities and community health services to share care records and optimise 
services for citizens across Wales; as required by the Integrated Health and Social 
Care, Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.

Date Written 13th July 2017
Report Author Anne Powell
Service Area On behalf of ‘Social Services’
Committee Date 27th July 2017

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



3.3 The new system has many potential benefits, including:  person-centred care, 24/7 
access to records and information, reduction in duplication of data capture and 
supports mobile working.  Please see ‘Appendix i’ for details of additional benefits.

3.4 On 16th August 2016, Merthyr Tydfil CBC met with WCCIS software developer 
(CareWorks) to discuss and formally sign off the Deployment Order (contract). A 
project plan was developed and a Project Lead and Project Manager identified.

Project Lead:  Mark Anderton, Head of Adult Services
Project Manager:  Anne Powell, Business Planning Manager

3.5 Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Social Services and Cwm Taf University Health Board North 
(system users who are currently part of integrated services) went live with WCCIS on 
1st July 2017.  The system was implemented in compliance with the Deployment 
Order and within agreed project timescales. 

3.6 In addition to Merthyr Tydfil CBC, to date, 4 Local Authorities and 1 Health Board 
have gone live with WCCIS.  Other scheduled ‘go-live’ dates include:

Rhondda Cynon Taf CBC – September 2017
Caerphilly CBC – September 2017
Newport CBC – November 2017
Vale of Glamorgan CBC – November 2017
Cwm Taf University Health Board – No date agreed at present

3.7 Please refer to ‘Cabinet Report: Wales Community Care Information System 
(WCCIS), National, Regional and Local Implementation’ – Committee Date: 19th 
October 2016’ for additional background information on the WCCIS Programme.

4.0 WHERE WE WERE 

4.1 Prior to the implementation of WCCIS, Merthyr Tydfil CBC, Social Services 
(including multi-agency teams) used the Northgate ‘Swift’ system for recording client 
information.  The current contract with Northgate for the support of the Swift system 
comes to an end in October 2017.

4.2 In addition to the Swift system; in some areas across social services, information 
was also stored electronically within service drives or paper-based files.

5.0 WHERE WE ARE NOW  

5.1 As referenced above, WCCIS went live on 1st July 2017.  

5.2 The following sets out some of the key elements of the WCCIS project and work 
undertaken in preparation for its implementation. 

 Project Board and Project Team established
 Technical developments – server set up
 Communication
 Business process mapping and forms review across Social Services and joint 

teams
Page 38



 System planning and development relating to Social Services charging and 
provisions

 Data migration preparation and extracts
 System testing
 Training – system administrators and system users
 Go-live readiness planning

Please see ‘Appendix ii’ for additional information on project activity.

5.3 To support integrated working and information sharing; a regional governance 
structure was put in place.  This includes a ‘Cwm Taf Regional Leadership Group’ 
and ‘Cwm Taf Regional Delivery Group’.   

Please see ‘Appendix iii’ for further information on the regional groups and their 
functions.

5.4 ‘Methods Advisory’ were commissioned by the Cwm Taf Regional Delivery Group 
(endorsed by the WCCIS Cwm Taf Regional Leadership Group) to undertake an 
independent ‘WCCIS Review and Health Check’.  The purpose of this review was to:

 Assess and make recommendations related to each organisations readiness to 
implement WCCIS – this included organisational readiness and project readiness.

 Assessment of leadership and information culture, governance, engagement and 
communication and skills and resources.

 Provide wider recommendations, including the “touch points” between Health and 
Social Care and the associated opportunities where we could improve these 
areas through the introduction of WCCIS.

5.5 A workshop to review and validate findings took place on 14th June.  Findings, 
analysis and recommendations will be formulated in a report.

6.0 WHERE WE WANT TO BE 

6.1 Through the implementation and ongoing development of WCCIS:  

 Practitioners will be able to access accurate, up-to-date and complete information 
in order to make informed decisions.

 It will improve sharing of relevant and appropriate information between services 
and across regional boundaries in a safe and secure way.

6.2 Practitioners, managers and administrators are appropriately trained and have 
access to ongoing support and resources.

 

7.0 WHAT WE NEED TO DO NEXT 

7.1 Address all calls logged received post ‘go-live’ (system issues, queries and 
developments).  Note:  Within the first 2 weeks of ‘go live’, the Business Systems 
Team have received 212 calls; all ranging in importance and complexity.  

Page 39



7.2 Review and sign off system as stable operation, close project and produce lessons 
learned report for National Assurance Team.

7.3 Implement the ‘WCCIS Remediation and Development Action Plan’ in order to work 
towards achieving the aims set out in 6.1.

7.4 Once received, Cwm Taf Regional Delivery Group to review recommendations set 
out in the ‘WCCIS Review and Health Check’ report and agree how these will be 
progressed.

8.0 CONTRIBUTION TO WELLBEING OBJECTIVES

8.1 The implementation and ongoing development of WCCIS indirectly contributes to the 
following Well-being Objectives, by providing practitioners and managers with 
improved access to and sharing of information across the integrated system.  This 
will support timely decision making and planning.

Best Start to Life

 Children get the best start to life

Living Well

 Developing safer communities
 People have good physical and mental wellbeing
 People live independently

LISA CURTIS-JONES
CHIEF OFFICER – SOCIAL SERVICES

COUNCILLOR DAVID HUGHES
CABINET MEMBER SOCIAL SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Cabinet Report:  Wales 
Community Care 

Information System 
(WCCIS) – National, 
Regional and Local 

Implementation

WCCIS Project Plan

WCCIS Remediation 
and Development Action 

Plan

October 2016

August 2016 – August 
2017

July 2017

Council website / intranet

Social Services ‘O’ drive

Social Services ‘O’ drive

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 40



Appendix i

Benefits

Potential benefits of the Welsh Community Care Information System (WCCIS) include:

 Person-centred care

 It improves the sharing of relevant and appropriate information between services and 
across regional boundaries, meaning that the right people have the right information at 
the right time 

 Support for integrated and shared assessments between Health and Social Care staff

 24/7 access to records and information

 Reduction in duplication of data capture

 Make better informed decisions as all relevant information is in one place

 Effective control of access to sensitive data

 Supports mobile working 

 WCCIS will support service change already underway to reshape social services and 
health care in Wales 

Page 41



Appendix ii
WCCIS Pre ‘Go-live’ Activity

The following sets out key project tasks.

WCCIS Project Plan

Project Initiation

 Deployment Order formally signed off
 Project Lead and Manager identified
 Project Board and Project Team established
 Project Plan and Risk Log developed

Technical

 ADFS Server commissioned and connections configured.

Training

 Project Team received 3 day WCCIS system training on commencement of project
 Business Systems Officers received report writing software training
 Staff demonstrations of the system took place in November 2016.  This was intended to 

provide users with a flavour of the system.
 Training Strategy developed that set out the approach and requirements for end user 

training.  As part of the strategy it was agreed that access to the system would not be 
granted until system users undertake appropriate training and sign relevant user 
agreements.

 Training database set up that reflected training required and used to monitor attendance 
throughout the training period.

 Course materials produced and training booking system set up (Bookwhen), which 
enabled individuals to book directly on the required training course.

 Training was delivered by trainers from other Local Authorities and Health
 43 courses took place and in excess of 350 users received training.
 Evaluation forms were completed by all course attendees.  These will be used to inform 

ongoing system development.

Communications

 Staff newsletters produced which summarised progress locally and nationally.

Data Migration

 Throughout the project there were 5 planned data migration phases.  This phase relates 
to the transfer of the information held in the previous system to the new system.  Each 
phase included the following elements:  preparing files for migration (technical), loading 
data migration files (technical), resolve data queries (internal testing) and quality check 
and phase sign off.

Page 42



Business Processes and Forms

 Throughout August – October 2016, we organised and delivered 31 (1 day) business 
process mapping workshops with managers, nominated practitioners and relevant 
representatives from partner organisations.  

 The workshops focused on reviewing and challenging business processes across social 
services and associated documentation to ensure they were ‘fit for purpose’ and 
compliant with the ‘Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014’.

 Following the workshops, the processes were formalised (as visuals) and forms collated 
and reviewed.  A database was set up to track progress. 

 Once the processes were mapped and signed off, further workshops were held to 
discuss and document the technical configuration which informed the development of 
the system.

Security

 Data Disclosure Agreements and an Inter-Authority Agreement are in place.  The legally 
binding documents set out the requirements in relation to accessing and sharing 
information across the National system. 

 A local ‘Security Model’ document was developed which details the agreed local WCCIS 
security structure (arrangements for accessing and sharing information) being adopted 
by Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and the principles and process for ‘locking 
down’ confidential records.

Testing

 As part of each data migration phase, testing was undertaken to ensure that the 
information being migrated from the current system to WCCIS transferred correctly and 
to the right location.

 In addition to this, general user acceptance testing was undertaken.  This exercise 
involved the Business Systems Team and identified practitioners from across Social 
Services.  The purpose of the exercise was to test various elements and forms within 
the system to ensure they functioned as expected.

Finance

 Another element of the project is the development of WCCIS for recording provider 
information, assessments and charges.  Due to the complexities surrounding finance, 
this part of the project is no longer in scope with the original plan and a separate action 
plan has therefore been developed.  This work is scheduled to conclude on 30th 
November 2017. 

Pre Go-Live Action Plan

 Project Lead / Project Manager provided CareWorks with authorisation to proceed with 
‘go live’ action plan and relevant Milestone Certificates were completed.

 Previous system was made ‘read only’.
 Interim arrangements put in place across Social Services for the ‘down-time’ period. 
 Final migration of data from previous system to WCCIS and associated testing.
 System configuration and further testing by end users.

Page 43



 National Assurance testing completed by live organisations and approval received for 
WCCIS to go live in Merthyr. 

 Formal communication to system users and relevant partner organisations that WCCIS 
in live.

 System users provided with relevant guidance and support for accessing and using 
WCCIS.  This included initial hand-holding and ongoing support arrangements.

 

Page 44



Appendix iii

Regional Governance

To ensure that the appropriate governance is in place both to manage the programme and 
ensure that the operational requirements are met the groups identified below are 
established.  The functions and responsibilities of these groups are outlined.
The diagram below identifies the relevant groups and the relationship to the other groups.

WCCIS Leadership Board

WCCIS National Implementation 
Programme Board

CWM Taf WCCIS Regional 
Regional Leadership Group

Regional Delivery Group

CWM Taf 
UHB

Local Project 
Delivery

Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC

Local Project 
Delivery

RCT CBC

Local Project 
Delivery

WCCIS National 
Assurance Groups

Business
Information 
Governance
Technology

 

WCCIS  Programme 
Work streams

Data
Business Change

IG
Information

Mobility
Project Managers

WCCIS 
Change 

Advisory 
Board

Service 
Management 

Board

SE Wales SWIFT Consortia 

WCCIS National Work 
streams & Assurance 
Groups support the 
Cwm Taf Region

Page 45



Memberships of Groups

WCCIS Cwm Taf Regional Leadership Group

Position Organisation
Group Director Community & Children’s RCT CBC
Chief Officer Social Services Merthyr CBC
Director of Primary Care & Mental Health Cwm Taf UHB
Head of Transformation RCT CBC
Head of Clinical Systems Cwm Taf UHB
Business Planning Manager (WCCIS Project 
Manager)

Merthyr CBC

Head of ICT / Regional Implementation Group 
Chair

RCT CBC

Functions

 To provide strategic leadership and direction for WCCIS within the region
 To receive reports and recommendations from the Regional Delivery Group on regional 

actions/progress
 To oversee the effective delivery of the regional delivery plan and ensure appropriate 

programme arrangements are put in place
 To monitor high level milestone progress
 To own and delegate regional funding 
 To address barriers preventing realisation of the regional vision, benefits and 

deliverables
 Review and ensure appropriate actions are in place to mitigate programme risks

  WCCIS Cwm Taf Regional Delivery Group

Position Organisation
Head of ICT / Chair RCT CBC
Head of Clinical Services Cwm Taf UHB
Project Manager Merthyr CBC
Project Manager RCT CBC
Project Manager Cwm Taf UHB
SEWC SWIFT Consortia Lead SEW SWIFT Consortia
Business Change Manager – Social Care NWIS
Head of Adult Services Merthyr CBC

Function

 To provide support and delivery for WCCIS within the region
 To receive reports and recommendations from relevant national work streams and local 

project managers on actions/progress
Page 46



 To implement the actions agreed within the regional delivery plan
 To ensure that opportunities for collaboration, improvements to integrated 

process/working and standardisation are worked toward
 To agree and provide reports into the Regional Leadership Group for appraisal or seek 

endorsement
 To identify, recommend and implement actions for collaboration “to do it once” within 

the region.
 Maintain a regional risk register and appraise the group of any escalations, or issues 

that may directly or indirectly impact upon the delivery of WCCIS locally or regionally.

  Merthyr CBC Local Implementation

Project Board

Position Organisation
Head of Adult Services (WCCIS Project Lead) Merthyr Tydfil CBC
Business Planning Manager (WCCIS Project 
Manager)

Merthyr Tydfil CBC

ICT Manager Merthyr Tydfil CBC
SEWC SWIFT Consortia Lead SEW SWIFT Consortia
Business Change Manager – Social Care NWIS

Project Team

Position Organisation
Head of Adult Services (WCCIS Project Lead) Merthyr Tydfil CBC
Business Planning Manager (WCCIS Project 
Manager)

Merthyr Tydfil CBC

Head of Children’s Services Merthyr Tydfil CBC
Business Systems Team Officers Merthyr Tydfil CBC
IT Technician Merthyr Tydfil CBC
Senior Administrator Merthyr Tydfil CBC
SEWC SWIFT Consortia Lead SEW SWIFT Consortia

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Survey of Members - Meeting Start Time

1.0 REASON FOR THE REPORT

1.1 Statutory Guidance made under Section 6 of the Local Government (Wales) 
Measure 2011 states that local authorities should review the times at which meetings 
are held at least once in every term, preferably shortly after the new council is 
elected; hence the purpose of this report.

1.2 This report is therefore agended to survey Members in respect of times at which 
meetings of this committee are to be held.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S)

2.1 That this scrutiny committee agrees the commencement time of future committee 
meetings.

 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 All local authorities must review the times at which meetings are held at least once in 
every term, preferably shortly after the new council is elected, hence this report. 

3.2 Currently this committee has its commencement time as shown on today’s agenda 
document.

3.3 When agreeing the start time, Members should also bear in mind that a half hour 
pre-meeting is held before each scheduled meeting. 

SCRUTINY SECTION

Date Written 13rd July 2017
Report Author Scrutiny Section
Service Area Scrutiny
Committee Date 25th July 2017

Page 49

Agenda Item 7



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of 

Document(s)
Document(s) Date Document Location

The Local 
Government 
(Wales) Measure 
2011

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/pdfs/mwa_20110004_en.pdf

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Page 50

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/mwa/2011/4/pdfs/mwa_20110004_en.pdf

	Agenda
	3 Developing the Scrutiny Work Programme 2017/18
	Developing the Scrutiny Work Programme Social Services
	To:  Scrutiny Committee Members,
	Developing the Scrutiny Work Programme for 2017 /2018
	4.10 An article will be in the next Contact magazine (mid July) asking the public for suggestions for the work programmes. The Communications department will also put notifications out on Twitter and Facebook asking for work programme suggestions.  Th...

	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

	Appendix I
	Appendix II
	Appendix III
	Appendix IV
	Appendix V
	Appendix VI
	Appendix VII Social Services
	Appendix VIII
	Developing the Scrutiny Work Programme Social Services.pdf
	To:  Scrutiny Committee Members,
	Developing the Scrutiny Work Programme for 2017 /2018
	4.10 An article will be in the next Contact magazine (mid July) asking the public for suggestions for the work programmes. The Communications department will also put notifications out on Twitter and Facebook asking for work programme suggestions.  Th...

	1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT
	2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that


	4 CSSIW Performance Review of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Social Services
	5 Children's Services Strategy for Improving Wellbeing
	6 Welsh Community Care Information System
	7 Survey of Members  -  Meeting Start Time



